IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-00106

BRIAN E. WIKEL

APPELLANT

VS.

BETHANY J. WIKEL MILLER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Brian E. Wikel, Appellant
- 2. Bethany J. Wikel Miller, Appellee
- 3. Rebecca A. Younger, Esq., Attorney for Appellee
- 4. Michael R. Farrow, Esq., Attorney for Appellee
- 5. Carrie A. Jourdan, Esq., Attorney for Appellee
- 4. Michelle D. Easterling, Esq., Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION TO DENY THE APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT FOR MODIFICATION OF CHILD CUSTODY WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AS REFLECTED IN THE RECORD.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition of the Case Below

On August 24, 2006, the Appellant, Brian Wikel, (hereinafter "Brian") filed his

Complaint for Modification of the Final Judgment of Divorce entered in this cause on January 7,

2005, asking the Chancery Court of Oktibbeha County, Mississippi, to modify physical custody

of the parties' two minor children, Zachary (then age 7) and Garrett (then age 5) from Bethany

Wikel ("Bethany") to Brian. R.1:30¹. Brian's Complaint alleged that Bethany's misconduct

with her paramour and other inappropriate and immoral influences and Bethany's refusal to

communicate with him concerning the children's school and extracurricular activities were

having an adverse effect on the minor children who were then engaged in therapy. R.1:31.

Further, Brian alleged that Bethany's refusal to allow him to participate in the boys' activities

and special events was adversely affecting their father-son bond. R.1:31. Alternatively, Brian

asked the Court to modify the existing visitation schedule and provide more specified and

extended visitation periods in light of his recent relocation to Florence, Alabama following the

closing of his employer's plant in West Point, Mississippi. R.1:30.

On October 26, 2006, the Appellee, Bethany Wikel (now Miller), filed her Answer and Counter-Claim for Modification, denying Brian's allegations and seeking an increase in child support, the right to claim the income tax deductions on both children and a modification of the existing visitation schedule. R.1:49. Bethany also sought a modification of custody of the children from joint legal custody to sole legal and physical custody in Bethany and other matters related to property settlement. R.1:49. Brian filed his answer to Bethany's Counter-Claim for Modification denying Bethany's requested relief on November 13, 2006. R.57.

¹ References in this brief to the Record will be "R.__", to the Record Excerpts will be "R.E.__", and to the trial transcript will be "Tr.__." Volumes shall be denoted by the volume number followed by a colon, and the appropriate page number.

The trial of this cause was held on September 8, 2008 and October 29, 2008.

At the trial of this cause, the parties stipulated that Brian Wikel is a good father with excellent parenting skills who has a great relationship with his children. Tr. 2:193-94.

By virtue of its Opinion and Judgment entered by the Court in this cause on December 3, 2008, Brian's Complaint for Modification was denied. R.E.7; R.2:158. The Court found that due to the relocation of both Brian and Bethany, the existing visitation schedule was not working and that modification of the schedule was in the best interest of the children. R.E.8; R.2:159. The Court set forth a detailed visitation schedule and ordered Bethany to cooperate with Brian by keeping him informed with regard to the children's school, social and extracurricular activities and medical conditions. R.E.8-15; R.2:159-166. The Court denied Bethany's Complaint for an increase in child support. R.E.12; R.2:163.

On December 10, 2008, Brian filed a Motion to Reconsider the Court's Opinion and Judgment entered on December 3, 2008. R.2:167-178. Bethany also filed her Motion to Reconsider on December 12, 2008 R.2:179-182. The Chancellor issued his Order on December 22, 2008, in which he overruled Brian's Motion for Reconsideration as to modification of child custody and overruled Bethany's Motion for Reconsideration as to modification of child support. R.E.16; R.2:197. The Court did, however, sustain Brian's Motion with regard to the requested amendment to Brian's visitation schedule. R.E.16; R.2:197-203.

Brian filed his Notice of Appeal with the Court on January 15, 2009. R.2:204. Bethany filed her Notice of Cross-Appeal on January 29, 2009. R.2:208-209.

B. Statement of the Facts

The parties were divorced on January 5, 2005. R.1:15-25. They shared joint legal custody of their two minor children, Zachary, born on September 1, 1998 (now age 10) and Garrett, born on February 26, 2001 (now age 8), with primary physical custody vested in

Bethany, subject to Brian's specified visitation rights. The Property Settlement Agreement provided that Brian would have alternating weekend visitation with the minor children, and one night of midweek overnight visitation. It made no provision for summer visitation. R.1:15-25.

Brian testified that at the time of the divorce, he was living in Starkville in the former marital home, and working at the Sara Lee facility in West Point. Tr.1:10. He moved to Florence, Alabama in May, 2007² when the West Point facility closed down Tr.1:10-11. Prior to the move, he attempted to find employment in the area to stay close to the children, who also resided in West Point, but he could not find a job that would pay him even close to what he was earning in salary and benefits with Sara Lee³. Tr.1:11.

Unknown to Brian until the pendency of this cause, Bethany, while she was still married to Brian, engaged in sexual intercourse with a minor student who attended the high school where she taught. Tr.1:83-85. Bethany's sexual misconduct continued after her divorce from Brian as she admittedly permitted men, including Cain Cannon, her boyfriend of a few weeks, and Will Miller to spend the night in the home she shared with the parties' two minor children, Zachary and Garrett. Tr.1:90-93.

Brian testified that at the time of the divorce in January, 2005, the children were well adjusted, and he observed no issues with their behavior or school performance. Tr.1:12. Bethany testified that after the divorce, the children began experiencing emotional and behavioral problems. Tr. 1:93-94. Though Brian did not observe this behavior at the time, as time went on, Brian did observe that Zachary was becoming withdrawn, and unwilling to discuss his feelings or even his daily activities. Brian related that Zachary became upset when he had to return to his mother's after visitation, or when he had to leave his mother to visit with his dad. Tr.1:13.

² The record citation reflects 2006, but Brian actually moved in April 2007 as reflected in further testimony. See Tr.1:32.

³ Brian is employed as the Operations Manager for Sara Lee at their Florence, Alabama facility. Tr.1:8-9.

Bethany decided to take the boys to a counselor that she picked out, Melanie Benson, without any input from Brian. Tr.1:13-14; 1:95. Brian participated in some of these counseling sessions⁴. Tr.1:14.

Melanie Benson treated the Wikel children from March, 2005 until July, 2007, during which time she met with them on 22 or 23 occasions. Tr. 1:128. Bethany presented to Ms. Benson with complaints that Zachary was angry, that he experienced temper tantrums and anger outbursts, became physically aggressive with his brother, Garrett, was very repressed and did not verbalize his emotions. Tr. 1:131-133. Ms. Benson testified that following the initial assessment of Zachary, she diagnosed him with adjustment disorder, with mixed anxiety and depressed mood and identified his stressors as the parental divorce, difficulty in visitation schedules and tension between parents. Tr. 1:131-132. While initially Ms. Benson's client was Zachary, during the second visit, when Zachary exhibited aggression towards Garrett, it was decided that Garrett would participate in the sessions so the brothers could work on their relationship and abilities to express themselves. Tr. 1:133. Ms. Benson testified that her initial diagnostic impression of Garrett was adjustment disorder, unspecified. Tr. 1:133-134.

Melanie Benson testified that during the course of her treatment of Zachary and Garrett, the children mentioned their mother's male friend and the activities they did with him. Tr. 1:138-139. See also May 5, 2005 and May 26, 2005 office notes of Melanie Benson, R.E.42-43; Tr.Ex.3,pp.32-33. During a couple of sessions in the summer of 2006, Brian related his concern that Bethany's act of bringing men in and out of the children's lives was affecting the children and causing them confusion about father figures. Tr.1:14-16. Bethany told Brian in the presence of Melanie Benson that what she did in her house was her business and not Brian's. Tr.1:16. Ms.

⁴Melanie Benson met with Bethany approximately 10 or 11 times, and with Brian 8 or 9 times. Tr. 1:128-129.

Benson counseled with Bethany regarding to the importance of limiting a child's involvement with members of the opposite sex, particularly romantic partners, because children form attachments to adult figures, and if the romantic relationship did not work out and the children had formed a bond with this person, the child would feel abandoned and it could also affect the attachment between the child and the other parent. Tr. 1:139-140. Ms. Benson testified that she counseled Bethany to limit the children's contact with her male friends. Tr. 1:141. In at least two subsequent sessions, Brian and Bethany discussed Bethany's boyfriend, Will Miller⁵, spending the night in the home while the children were present, and how that might confuse the children about cohabitation. Tr.1:17-18.

When asked whether she had concerns about Bethany's activities with over night male company in her home, prior to her marriage to Will Miller, Ms. Benson testified that she did have concerns because this issue had been brought up and Bethany had not followed her recommendations. Tr. 2:158-159. Ms. Benson opined that Bethany's activities with overnight male company in her home **contributed** to the children's psychological problem. Tr. 2:159.

After the June 30, 2005 session, the children did not return to counseling with Ms.

Benson until February, 2006. Tr. 1:141-142. At that time, Zachary was again experiencing anger issues, and was also sad because he wasn't seeing his dad often. Tr. 1:142. Zachary wanted to see Brian more often, but was afraid of hurting his mother's feelings, and accordingly, internalized and repressed his feelings. Tr. 1:142. According to Ms. Benson, Zachary expressed uncertainty as to whether he would be able to spend time with his father. Tr. 1:142-143; Ex. 35. At the March 23, 2006 visit, Ms. Benson noted that "his (Zachary's) temper had increased and that he would lose his temper...approximately one or two episodes a day. I did not chart the level of intensity of those, but that he was still taking anger out on his brother and kicking, hitting."

⁵ Bethany was single at the time Brian filed his Complaint for Modification of Custody on August 24, 2006, but married Will Miller seven (7) days after she was served in this case. Tr.1:19-20.

Tr. 1:143. Until he called Ms. Benson in April, 2006, Brian was unaware that the children had returned to counseling and was "understandably a little upset that they were coming and he was not involved, but made it – made it clear that he would come and participate if he were able to attend sessions and [knew] when they were." Tr. 1:144. Once he became involved again, Ms. Benson testified that Brian was compliant: "Anything that I did ask of him to do, he seemed willing to do it and did follow through with recommendations." Tr. 1:144.

Ms. Benson testified that in July, 2007, Brian was concerned about the boys and the transition associated with his new job, and he contacted her to arrange a session with the children to address changes in the visitation schedule. Tr. 1:145-146. Ms. Benson had to set the appointment at 6:00 at night so Brian and the boys could attend because Bethany would not agree to take them unless it was Brian's visitation time. Tr. 1:146.

Brian testified that Bethany terminated counseling sessions with Melanie Benson over his objection and without regard to the progress his elder child made in the course of the sessions.

Tr.1:22-23.

Brian testified that Bethany has arbitrarily denied him summer visitation with his children for two years in a row (Tr.1: 23-24) and she has repeatedly refused to accommodate his requests for visitation or to make minor changes to pickup and return times in order to allow the children to spend a few more days with their grandparents over Christmas break (Tr.1:30), or to travel with their grandparents to Disney World (Tr.1:29), or to attend Brian's grandfather's funeral. Tr.1:28. Brian testified that until he involved his attorneys, Bethany refused to cooperate with him in securing necessary documents to permit the children to travel to the Virgin Islands with him to attend Brian's brother's wedding in the summer of 2008. Tr.1:25-26.

Brian testified that Bethany denied him visitation with the children when it was his night for mid-week visitation, and forced him to choose between having the children attend a counseling session with Melanie Benson or taking them to dinner. Tr.1:32-33.

Brian testified that after he moved to Alabama, Bethany refused to meet him half way and refused to adjust the pick up/drop off time for the boys' visitation periods, as well. Tr.1:38-39. To exercise his weekend visitation, Brian traveled 2 ½ to 3 hours to pick up his children in West Point, and then 2 ½ to 3 hours back to his home in Alabama on Friday nights only to do the same thing on Sunday afternoons. Tr.1:39-40.

Brian testified that Bethany has denied him telephone contact with his children (Tr.1:24-25; 43-45), refused to notify him about the children's school performance and activities and programs (Tr.1:46) and refused to relate information concerning the children's medical conditions and treatment Tr.1:46-47.

Ms. Benson testified that it was always her recommendation to the parties that they "maintain contact...focus on the children's needs and to try to work together, coordinate things together in order to make visitation as easy as possible, considering the circumstance." Tr.1:147. While Brian was generally compliant with her recommendations, Bethany resisted at times, and Ms. Benson believed that the target of her resistance was Brian. Tr. 1:148:

There was a lot of tension and animosity between the two of them throughout the whole time that I saw the boys. However, there were instances when there would be a recommendation made that I perceived that Mrs. Miller may not want to cooperate specifically with Mr. Wikel on that matter, not that she wanted to intentionally cause harm to the children, that there was a lack of cooperation sometimes with visitation and everything was so rigid, that it made it hard to alleviate some of the pressure from the boys regarding visitation." Tr. 1:148-149.

Melanie Benson testified that Brian and his children had a loving and affectionate relationship, and that they were sufficiently bonded, but that any type of disruption in visitation affects that bond. Tr. 2:151. She cited the examples of the visitation dispute at

their last visit, when Bethany refused to allow the children to attend the counseling session, requiring Brian to subordinate his visitation time in favor of a counseling session for his children and then refusing to permit Brian to take the children to eat dinner after the counseling session, even though it was his night to have the boys. Ms. Benson testified that Bethany was being unreasonable, "that if he (Brian) had driven to see his children and spent a considerable amount of visitation time in a therapy session, that to be able to take them to eat supper was not an unreasonable request, and with that being his night, his visitation night at the time." Tr. 1:151-152⁶.

Ms. Benson had no concerns about Brian serving as custodial parent of the minor children, but her concern with Bethany remaining as custodial parent was that "there would not be the relationship with their father promoted as it needs to be to secure an adequate bond in the relationship between the boys and their father." Tr. 2:162-163.

In her December 12, 2006 office note, Ms. Benson expressly noted her impression that "the client appears to feel pressure by mom to reject dad." R.E.55: Tr.Ex.p.45; Tr.2:165. Ms. Benson opined "that there have been opportunities when the relationship could have been encouraged [by Bethany] and I do not see that it was." Tr. 2:158. Ms. Benson testified that Bethany's actions and inactions in refusing to support, promote and encourage the relationship between Brian and the boys **contributed** to their psychological conditions, as her actions added to the stressors that the boys were facing. Tr. 2:159-160.

⁶ Brian testified similarly about his recent trip to see the boys only a week or so prior to the trial in this cause: Brian requested Bethany allow him to visit with the children briefly on the Labor Day weekend, since it would be three weeks before he saw them next. Despite his numerous attempts to secure overnight visitation with his children, Brian was allowed the opportunity to see them for three (3) hours in West Point, Mississippi, between 2:00 and 5:00 p.m., because Bethany had "plans" for the weekend. Though it meant nearly six (6) hours round trip travel for a three (3) hour visit with his sons, without hesitation, Brian made the effort to see his sons. Tr. 1:34-35.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's decision to deny Appellant's Complaint for Modification of Custody was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and not supported by substantial evidence.

A review of the undisputed testimony in this record reveals that since the entry of the Final Judgment of Divorce on January 7, 2005, there have been multiple, <u>significant</u> material changes in circumstances which have adversely affected the minor children's welfare. In the best of interest of the children, custody should be modified from Bethany to Brian.

There is no dispute that Bethany's inappropriate conduct with overnight male visitors in her home, – which began prior to the divorce with her sexual relationship with an underage high school student in the school where she was teaching and continued with other men after the divorce – her steadfast refusal to promote and encourage and facilitate the children's relationship with their father and her denials of/interference with visitation periods constituted material changes in circumstances. Most concerning is that the Wikel children have both been diagnosed with and treated for emotional problems by Melanie Benson of Meek Counseling Services since March, 2005, until Bethany unilaterally terminated her services and placed the children under the care of another counselor.

Melanie Benson, the only expert who testified at the trial of this cause, causally related the children's emotional problems to (1) Bethany Wikel Miller's actions with overnight male company in the home when the children were present, prior to her marriage to Will Miller, and (2) Bethany's actions and inactions in refusing to support, promote or encourage Brian's relationship with the children.

Considering the proof of significant material changes in circumstances adversely effecting the Wikel children, and considering the Chancellor's candid acknowledgement that, "[t]his case is close. If the Court were making an initial custody determination, Brian would

probably prevail," the Chancellor erred in his denial of Brian's Complaint for Modification of Custody. R.2:154-166.

The proof presented overwhelmingly established that it is <u>not</u> in the best interests of the Wikel children to remain in Bethany's care and custody – who committed a felony by having sexual intercourse with a minor enrolled at the high school where she taught, who engaged in sexual intercourse with her then-boyfriend in her home while her children were sleeping in the next room, who has promoted rejection of their father by the children, who has time and again placed her own interests over those of her children by denying them opportunities to see their father or to enjoy a close relationship with him despite his involuntary relocation to another state, and who has steadfastly refused to communicate with Brian about the children's medical conditions, well-being and school performance.

Rather, it would be in the best interest of these children to be in the care and custody of the parent who puts the children's interest above his own, and who has exhibited time and again, that he is dedicated to their physical and emotional well-being, who respects the bond between a parent and child, and who is vested with good morals and judgment, qualities which are of vital importance to all children, but especially, two young boys. Brian Wikel is that parent.

ARGUMENT

I. Law

A. Standard of Review on Appeal

On appeal, this Court utilizes a limited standard of review of a Chancellor's determination on modification of custody: This Court will not disturb a Chancellor's findings where they are supported by substantial credible evidence in the record, <u>unless</u> the Chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied an erroneous legal standard. *Story v. Allen*, 7 So.3d 295, 297 ¶ 10 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Samples v. Davis*, 904 So.2d 1061, 1064 ¶ 9 (Miss. 2004)).

B. Applicable Law

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