IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIAN E. WIKEL

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00106

BETHANY J. WIKEL MILLER

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM

THE CHANCERY COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CARRIE A. JOURDAN Mississippi Bar # 113 5th St N P.O. Box 1108 Columbus, MS 39703-1108 Telephone: 662-241-5191 Facsimile: 662-241-5921 Attorney for Bethany J. Wikel Miller

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIAN E.	WIKEL	

APPELLANT CASE NO. 2009-CA-00106

APPELLEE

VERSUS

BETHANY J. WIKEL MÍLLER

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION TO DENY THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MODIFICATION OF CHILD CUSTODY WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AS REFLECTED IN THE RECORD?
- II. THOUGH A CROSS-APPEAL WAS PERFECTED, THE APPELLEE, BETHANY J. WIKEL MILLER, BELIEVES HER CLAIMS WERE MERITORIOUS AT TRIAL, AND HEREBY RESERVES ANY RIGHTS SHE MAY HAVE TO SEEK SUBSEQUENT MODIFICATION, SHE DOES NOT BELIEVE IT IS IN HER BEST INTEREST TO PURSUE THOSE CLAIMS IN THIS APPEAL AND WILL PRESENT NO DIRECT ISSUES ON CROSS-APPEAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellee is satisfied with the Appellant's Statement of the Case.

. .

i

ι.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The father submits that the Chancellor abused his discretion denying his Motion (Complaint) to Modify Child Custody. The Chancellor, by detailed factual findings, found that the children had not suffered a material adverse change in circumstances. In fact, the Chancellor found that the children were undergoing the stresses associated with the breakup of the parental marriage and their respective parents' new relationships. As such, there was no need for an *Albright* factor analysis. The Chancellor, supported by material evidence in the record, did not abuse his discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. Factual Background

The parties were divorced on January 5, 2005. (R. 15-25). They shared joint legal custody of their two minor children, Zachary, born September 1, 1998, and Garret born February 26, 2001, with primary physical custody granted to Bethany, hereinafter referred to as "Mother". (R. 15-25). Visitation rights given to Brian Wikel, hereinafter referred to as "Father". No provision of for summer visitation was made. R. 15-25.

The father had been working inWest Point Mississippi; but his workplace closed. The Father was able to obtain a transfer to a facility in Florence, Alabama some 150 miles away. This caused stress and difficulty with the prior-ordered visitation schedule. The children, were well adjusted, with no behavior or school performance issues prior to the divorce. For some time after the divorce, the children began to have some emotional and behavioral problems. The Mother sought counseling help for the children. Both parents participated in some counseling.

The most highly disputed facts concern the counselor, Melanie Benson. Her testimony is discussed in detail in the argument section of this brief. The Father believes that the counselor found certain conduct of the Mother was detrimental the children's mental health, while the Mother believes that the children were undergoing the stresses associated with divorce in general, and not specifically the Mother's conduct after the divorce (R.E. 5, 7).

Several issues concerning visitation were presented and the Chancellor expressed his belief that the visitation arrangements were not satisfactory and issued extensive provisions modifying the visitation arrangement.

II. Argument

I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION TO DENY THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MODIFICATION OF CHILD CUSTODY WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AS REFLECTED IN THE RECORD?

"In domestic relations cases, [the appellate court's] scope of review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule." *Samples v. Davis*, 904 So.2d 1061, 1063-64(¶ 9) (Miss.2004) (citing *Jundoosing v. Jundoosing*, 826 So.2d 85, 88(¶ 10) (Miss.2002)). "[The appellant court] will not disturb the chancellor's opinion when supported by *substantial evidence* unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Id* at 1064(¶ 9) (quoting *Holloman v. Holloman*, 691 So.2d 897, 898 (Miss. 1996)).

In Mabus v. Mabus, 847 So.2d 815, 818(¶ 8) (Miss. 2003) (citations omitted), the Supreme

Court stated the legal standard for a child custody modification proceeding is as follows:

[The] burden of proof is on the movant to show by a preponderance of the evidence that a material change in circumstances has occurred in the custodial home. In the ordinary modification proceeding, the non-custodial party must prove: (1) that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the custody decree; (2) that this change adversely affects the child's welfare; and (3) that the child's best interests mandate a change of custody.

The Supreme Court has enumerated several factors to help chancellors determine what is in the "best interest" of the child in a custody dispute. *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). These factors include:

[age,] health, and sex of the child; a determination of the parent that has had the continuity of care prior to the separation; which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment; physical and mental health and age of the parents; emotional ties of parent and child; moral

fitness of parents; the home, school and community record of the child; the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; stability of home environment and employment of each parent, and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship.

Id. at 1005. The Albright factors are not to be treated as "the equivalent of a mathematical formula." Lee v. Lee, 798 So.2d 1284, 1288(¶ 15) (Miss. 2001).

While addressing a case similar to this one, the Supreme Court stated that, "a noncustodial parent's right to visitation is a "right more precious than any property right." One parent ... cannot be permitted to unilaterally deny the other's right to visit with his child. At the same time, "a change in custody will not be made for the purpose of rewarding one parent or punishing the other." *Ash v. Ash*, 622 So.2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 1993) (internal citations omitted).

In the case before this Court, the non-custodial Father is appealing the Chancellor's denial of his Motion to Modify previous Final Decree of Divorce as to the issue of child custody. The primary factor the Father relied upon in his Motion was the lack of moral fitness of the Mother. He alleges abuse of discretion or manifest error, but instead simply argues that the Chancellor got it wrong. In general, absent abuse of discretion or manifest error, that is insufficient grounds to reverse the findings and ruling of the Chancellor, no matter how passionately presented.

The Father's primary disagreement is with the Chancellor's findings in Paragraphs 14, 15, and the beginning of 16 of the Chancellor's Opinion and Judgment entered December 3, 2008, which states (R.E. 7):

The children are doing well in school. Bethany has been married to Will Miller for over two (2) years. Melanie Benson, the counselor testified for Brian, attributes the sons' problems to the parental divorce, the children not living with both parents, the transition between both parent's home and the tension between the parents. Most children of divorce experience these same problems and child being the individuals they are, will often react differently. If these two parents will cooperate with each other regarding the children, the Court doubts that the children would suffer the way that they do. Our Supreme Court has said that modification of custody is a "jolting, traumatic" experience which should not be ordered without serious cause. *Lipsey v. Lipsey*, 755 So.2d 564 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

This case is close. If the Court were making an initial custody determination, [Father] would probably prevail. But this is a modification and for the legal reasons expressed above, the Court is unable to modify custody at this time. ...

In other words, the Chancellor found that the harm the children had been suffered has

been as the result of the divorce and tension between the mother and father, and not the lack of

moral fitness of the mother or an adverse material change warranting a change in custody. The

Chancellor made no Albright analysis. In paragraph 13 of his opinion, the Chancellor states:

The Court should provide findings with regard to (1) whether a material change has occurred; (2) if so, whether the children were adversely affected; and (3) if so, whether modification is in the children's best interest. If the court finds an adverse material change and proceeds to a best interest analysis, the Court must make findings with respect to the *Albright* factors. (emphasis added).

The court made no change of custody nor an *Albright* analysis. It is a logical conclusion that the Chancellor found that no adverse material change occurred; or even if it did, modification would not be in the best interest of the children because the Chancellor stated that if he found a material adverse change, he had to perform an *Albright* analysis. In support of his decision, the Chancellor noted the fact that the mother had been remarried for over two years and that the children were doing well in school. The Chancellor was concerned about communication and visitation between the parties and modified the previous decree to establish an extensive, specific, rule-based visitation and joint legal custody regimen that should leave any future conflict without a doubt as to its origin (R.E. 8-21).

The Father in his brief performs a *pro forma*, *Albright* analysis. The Mother does not agree that such a speculative analysis should be done considering that the trial court itself did not perform such an analysis. It is speculative, not meaningful, and only confuses the issue for this Court.

There are two important factual issues that do need to be clarified in the Father's socalled "*Albright* analysis". In the first full paragraph of page 16 of his principal brief, the Father stated that the counselor, Melanie Benson, testified that the Mother's actions with overnight male company, **causally related** the children's emotional problems. (T. 159-160). The testimony of Benson, even taken in a light most favorable to the Father, does not support such a conclusion. The testimony that is conflated together to lead to this alleged causal relationship is as follows: T. 158-9:

Q. (Counsel for Father) What concerns, if any, do you have with regard to Mrs. Wikel's – prior to her marriage to Will Miller, the presence of overnight male company in her home?

A. (Melanie Benson) I have concerns, because it something that was brought up and was not adhered to because of the detachment, that it would – you know, may further promote detachment with the boys' father in presenting a new father figure in the house, the inconsistency in the home, like I mentioned earlier, the moral teachings. You know, if we're talking about Mr. Miller at this time, they are married, and so he is in a different position, but my concern would have been if they had not gotten married and broken up, the boys had already established a relationship.

Here, the counselor, in response to the question about prior to the Mother's remarriage about the presence of overnight male company, had concern about new attachments to a father figure, which would have been damaging if the relationship had terminated. That, in fact, did not, happen. No suggestion of causal relationship with overnight male company was suggested here. The Mother and Will Miller had been married for two years at the time of the modification hearing (R.E. 5). Testifying further (T. 159):

Q. Let me ask you this way: Do you have an opinion as to whether Mrs. Wikel's activities with overnight male company in the home caused or contributed to Zachary Wikel's adjustment disorder and adjustment disorder with depressed mood and mixed anxiety?

A. I think so, and the reason being because there was the pressure that I felt like the children felt even when they came to therapy, whether it was okay to talk about, in particular, Will Miller or not, if it was okay to tell dad things about Will Miller or not, and just that pressure. You know, I cant say that Mrs. Miller ever said, do not tell Ms. Melanie or do not tell your dad that Will Miller spent the night, I don't know, but I do know that there was some pressure there, particularly for Zachary. For Garrett, I don't think he quite understood.

All the counselor said was she thought there had been some pressure about discussing Will Miller in counseling and that may have caused some issues with Zachary. The Counselor never testified that anything before Will Miller caused any problems. The sexual relationship between the mother and Will Miller was not the cause of the anxiety, but perhaps a natural anxiety over displacing his natural father when a new father figure came into the child's life. Any anxiety was about Will Miller's presence in the Mother's life and not anonymous "overnight male company." The Chancellor's opinion at Paragraph 14 (R.E. 7) is a reasonable interpretation of this testimony, and is not in any way in conflict with the testimony. The counselor did not testify to what the Father stated in his brief that there was a causal relationship.

Another area of concern was in the Father's principal brief was his statement at page 14 paragraph "9", "that since final judgment of divorce in this cause, Bethany has permitted the younger child of the parties, Garrett, at the age of five (5) years to hunt with a real gun and live ammunition under the supervision of a 17 year-old boy". As stated, it appears the Mother just

gave a gun, ammo, and a lunchbox with some casual teenager to go into the woods and fire away. A careful review of the testimony revels that the actual circumstances are more normal and responsible. The Mother and Will Miller were present at the hunting trip where Zachary held the gun (T. 75). The 17 year-old boy was Will Miller's brother, Blake (T.74-75). Further, Will Miller is employed as a wildlife specialist with the United States Department of Agriculture, (T. 227). Hunting is clearly a family activity. Though a matter better discussed with the Father in advance, this was not a reckless act. No teaching children proper firearm use and safety in a home with firearms would be a reckless act.

Simply put, the Father has attempted to re-litigate his Motion hearing. Reading the Chancellor's length opinion, it becomes clear that Chancellor Burns conducted a proper and thorough review of all the facts and circumstances in this case and decided that the Father failed to meet his threshold burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that a material change in circumstances adversely affecting the interests of the children had occurred. The Father argues that Chancellor Burns did not make a proper *Albright* analysis; however, he would only have had to do so after finding a material change in circumstances had occurred. Even if this Court conducted a *de novo* review of the facts, the Appellant is attempting to piggyback predivorce behavior onto post-divorce behavior to make his allegations more outrageous. Though an admirable attempt to inflame the passions of the Chancellor and this Ccourt have been made, the pertinent law in this matter minimizes or precludes such consideration. The Chancellor heard the facts, considered the facts, applied the law, wrote detailed findings and an opinion, and arrived at the proper conclusion. Accordingly, no *Albright* analysis was required.

CONCLUSION

The Appellee, Bethany J. Wikel Miller, submits to this Court that the Chancery Court of Oktibbeha County did not commit error in denying her former Husband Brian E. Wikel's Motion to Modify Child Custody. The Chancellor was correct and supported by the evidence that no adverse change of circumstances had occurred in the children's lives. Therefore, this Court should affirm the opinion and findings of the Chancellor.